No. S191550

(Court of Appeal Nos. B202789 & B205034) (Los Angeles Super. Ct. No. BC209992 (related to No. BC263701))

SUPREME COURT

JUN 2 4 2011

Frederick K. Ohmon Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SARGON ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

Deputy

v.

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division One

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KATHLEEN M. SULLIVAN
(S.B. No. 242261)

DANIEL H. BROMBERG
(S.B. No. 242659)

QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART
& SULLIVAN LLP
555 Twin Dolphin Drive, 5th Fl.
Redwood Shores, CA 94065

Telephone: (650) 801-5000

ISSUE ON WHICH REVIEW WAS GRANTED

Did the trial court err in excluding the proffered expert opinion testimony regarding lost profits?

INTRODUCTION

This case raises the question whether trial courts have meaningful discretion to exclude speculative and unreliable expert opinion testimony projecting lost profits. The trial court excluded the expert testimony proffered by plaintiff Sargon Enterprises, Inc. ("Sargon") after an eight-day evidentiary hearing, summarizing its conclusions in an exhaustive 33-page order. If the trial court's careful and meticulous evidentiary ruling here is deemed an abuse of discretion, then trial courts will have been effectively stripped of any gatekeeping role over such testimony. This Court should reject such an outcome and reverse the judgment of the Court of Appeal.

This case arises out of a 23-person clinical trial that defendant University of Southern California ("University") agreed to conduct on a dental implant developed by Sargon. Sargon's expert asserted that, but for the University's improper performance of the clinical study, Sargon, a tiny start-up that never had made more than

\$101,000 a year, would have grown exponentially to become a world leader in the global dental implant industry, earning between \$220 million and \$1.2 billion over a decade. Sargon's expert postulated these extraordinary numbers by comparing Sargon to leaders in the global dental implant industry hundreds and thousands of times larger than Sargon, using a "market drivers" hypothesis developed for this lawsuit.

As the trial court carefully explained in its order, the expert's projections were not reasonably reliable because they departed from historical performance; compared a small start-up company to multinational corporations exponentially larger by every objective business measure; relied upon a "market drivers" hypothesis that lacked any reliable basis for its key assumption that market share in the dental implant market reflects relative "innovativeness" and failed to offer any useful criteria on "innovativeness" to guide the jury; lacked any grounding in relevant dental or economic fields of expertise; and depended upon multiple factual contingencies whose occurrence was a matter of sheer speculation.

In excluding this testimony, the trial court acted well within the bounds of the discretion entrusted to it. The Evidence Code permits admission of expert testimony only if it is reasonably reliable. Moreover, as this Court repeatedly has recognized, the Evidence Code entrusts trial courts with primary responsibility for applying these restrictions upon expert testimony. This gatekeeping function is especially important in the lost profits context, because claims for prospective lost profits necessarily involve uncertainty that creates a danger of undue speculation.

Stripping trial courts of this gatekeeping function, as the Court of Appeal sought to do, would have grave implications for the administration of justice. Requiring trial courts to submit unreliable and inflated lost profit projections to the jury would pressure defendants with entirely meritorious defenses to settle in order to avoid the possibility of massive judgments that could cripple or bankrupt them. If defendants refused to enter into such "blackmail" settlements, courts would be burdened with lengthy, hotly contested disputes that would increase the cost of litigation and consume

scarce judicial resources. Finally, forcing trial courts to send inflated and speculative expert lost profits testimony to juries would discourage research universities and established businesses from contracting with start-ups, to the detriment of innovation in the State.

Accordingly, this Court should reaffirm that trial courts play an important gatekeeping function with respect to expert opinion testimony on lost profits, reverse the Court of Appeal's decision, and order the trial court's judgment reinstated.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Background

This case arises from an agreement between the University and Sargon to conduct a small-scale study of a dental implant invented by Sargon's founder, Dr. Sargon Lazarof. (Slip Opn. 2, 4; Tr. Ct. Order 10, fn. 4 [21 AA 5337, fn. 4].) Dental implants are drilled into the jawbone to anchor a crown. (7 AA 1550.) Unlike most implants, which take four to six months to integrate with the bone before a crown can be fitted, the Sargon implant uses a spreading "molly bolt" designed to allow a crown to be loaded immediately. (*Ibid.*) The study arose from the interest of some

faculty members at the University's dental school in the Sargon implant. (Slip Opn. 4; 1 AA 87.)

In November 1996, the University entered into a Clinical Trial Agreement with Sargon. (1 AA 58-100.) In the agreement, the University promised to install forty implants, evaluate their safety and efficacy (1 AA 87-88) and provide interim reports (1 AA 61). Sargon promised to provide \$200,000 to fund the study. (1 AA 62.)

In May 1999, Sargon sued the University, claiming that it had breached the Clinical Trial Agreement by not providing timely and complete interim reports and by not following research protocols in selecting the twenty-three patients in whom the study's forty implants were placed. (1 AA 49-50.) At trial, a jury found a breach of contract and awarded \$433,000 in general damages. The trial court (Lager, J.), however, excluded Sargon's request for special damages on the ground that the \$100 million or so in lost profits then claimed by Sargon were not reasonably foreseeable. (1 RA 192-207; 1 AA 127.)

The Court of Appeal for the Second District, Division One, vacated that ruling in a February 2005 unpublished opinion ("Sargon I"), holding that a jury could have found such damages foreseeable based upon evidence that Sargon intended to use a positive clinical study for marketing purposes. (1 AA 222-27.) Because the trial court had focused solely on whether lost profits were foreseeable, the Court of Appeal remanded, deeming it premature to consider whether Sargon's purported lost profits were reasonably certain. (1 AA 228-29, 237-38.)

On remand following *Sargon I*, the lost profits issue was taken up by a new trial judge (Green, J.). Sargon amended its complaint to add fraud and other tort claims, but all those claims were dismissed on pre-trial motions. (Slip Opn. 9-14, 16-18.) After an eight-day evidentiary hearing, the trial court excluded Sargon's proffered expert witness testimony on lost profits, and Sargon stipulated to final judgment and appealed. The Court of Appeal affirmed on nearly all grounds, including the dismissal of the fraud and other tort claims, but reversed the trial court's ruling excluding the

proffered expert witness testimony regarding lost profits. The University's petition relates solely to this last issue.

B. The Expert Opinion Testimony

On remand following Sargon I, Sargon proffered expert opinion testimony from James Skorheim, a certified public accountant and lawyer, concerning its lost profits, which Sargon now claimed were as much as \$1.1 billion. (Slip Opn. 21.) Sargon argued, based on Skorheim's opinion, that but for the University's breach, Sargon's innovation would have made it a global leader in the implant market. (43 AA 11114-15.) Arguing that this testimony was speculative, the University moved for summary adjudication. Although the trial court denied the motion (12 AA 3124-26), it expressed doubts about Skorheim's opinion, noting the "many intermediary steps that have to be accounted for" in order for Sargon to become a market leader (2 RT 64:7-16). Sargon responded that it was "going to have that proof" at trial (2 RT 67:9-68:1), but the trial court warned Sargon that its damages might be speculative if it sought "the full amount of lost profits it alleges, and nothing less" (12 AA 3125).

The University then deposed Skorheim and, based upon the deposition, filed a motion in limine to exclude his testimony. (13 AA 3210-28.) The trial court was inclined to grant the motion in large part, but Sargon again represented that it was going "to fill in all the assumptions that Mr. Skorheim has made." (3 RT I23:4-23.) Giving Sargon the benefit of the doubt, the trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing under Evidence Code section 402. At the hearing, which lasted eight days (see 4 RT J1 through 11 RT 2069), Sargon presented four witnesses, including Skorheim, who testified over the course of six days. (See 4 RT J11-56; 5 RT K2-69; 6 RT 26-52; 7 RT 301-34; 8 RT 601-800; 10 RT 1501 through 10A RT 116.)

Skorheim opined that, but for the University's breach, Sargon's profits, which had never exceeded \$101,000 a year (Tr. Ct. Order 10, fn. 4 [21 AA 5337, fn. 4]), would have increased between 1998 and 2009 to a minimum of \$26 million per year (a 29,000% increase) and to as much as \$142 million per year (a 157,000% increase). (Slip Opn. 25, 27; 40 AA 10248, 10251.) Skorheim estimated Sargon's total lost profits during the ten-year time period

to be no less than \$220 million and as high as \$1.18 billion. (Id. at p. 25.)

Skorheim did not base these projections on Sargon's historical performance. (Tr. Ct. Order 8-9 & fn. 2 [21 AA 5335-36 & fn. 2].) Skorheim looked to Sargon's actual performance only for 1998, and then inexplicably doubled Sargon's actual revenues for that year. (*Ibid.*)

Rather than using historical performance to project Sargon's revenues, Skorheim used an unprecedented "market drivers" hypothesis that he invented for this case. He asserted that three "market drivers"—innovativeness, use of clinical studies, and targeting general practitioners—drive relative success in the dental implant market. (*Id.* at pp. 4, 21-22 [21 AA 5331, 5348-49].) Because all successful dental implant companies pursue clinical studies and target general practitioners (*id.* at p. 9, fn. 3 [21 AA 5336, fn. 3]), Skorheim relied upon the third "driver" as the key to market share, deeming likely market share a function of a company's relative "innovativeness" (*id.* at pp. 4-5 [21 AA 5331-32]).

Specifically, Skorheim looked to the six existing leaders of the global dental implant industry and hypothesized that, if a jury found that Sargon's implant contributed a "meaningful" level of innovation, it would have achieved a 3.75% market share by 2009, roughly equivalent to Astra Tech's market share in 1998 (8 RT 606:26-607:7, 628:15-26; 40 AA 10248); if a jury found that Sargon's implant offered a "good" innovation, it would have achieved a 5% market share, roughly equivalent to that of Dentsply and Zimmer (8 RT 633:13-634:1; 40 AA 10249); if a jury found that Sargon's implant contributed a "substantial" innovation, it would have achieved a 10% market share roughly equivalent to 3i's (8 RT 634:5-26; 40 AA 10250); and if a jury found Sargon's implant to be a "revolutionary" innovation, Sargon would have achieved the roughly 20% market share enjoyed by the two market leaders, Nobel Biocare and Straumann (8 RT 635:2-23 40 AA 10241-51).

Using these four possible market shares, Skorheim projected Sargon's lost revenues and lost profits, assuming that Sargon's revenues would "ramp up" smoothly from double its 1998 revenues

and that Sargon's profit margins would jump to the 30% enjoyed by the market leaders even though Sargon's margins had never exceeded 5%. (Slip Opn. 27; Tr. Ct. Order 8-9 & fn.2 [21 AA 5335-36 & fn. 2]; 8 RT 605:21-622:19; 40 AA 10246-10251.) The results he projected were as follows:

Table 1
Skorheim's Lost Profit Damages
Based On Innovativeness Options

	Option 1	Option 2	Option 3	Option 4
Level of	"meaningful"	"good"	"substantial"	"revolutionary"
Innovation	(Astra Tech)	(Dentsply/	(3i)	(Nobel/
÷	,	Zimmer)		Straumann)
Projected	3.75%	5%	10%	20%
2009				
Market				
Share				
Increase in	5,046%	6,762%	13,652%	27,350%
Annual				
Revenue				
Increase in	29,240%	39,131%	78,694%	157,820%
Annual				
Profit				
Total Lost	\$220,484,347	\$315,364,512	\$605,764,966	\$1,181,018,778
Profits				

Sources: 13 AA 3300-02, 3325-26, 3336-37, 3340-42; 40 AA 10241-51; 8 RT 606-07.

Skorheim offered no definition of "innovativeness" or standards to guide the jury in distinguishing among the four levels of relative "innovativeness," and conceded that he lacked any

expertise enabling him to judge a dental implant's relative innovativeness. (Tr. Ct. Order 9, fn. 3, 17, 23 [21 AA 5336, fn. 3, 5344, 5350]; 13 AA 3285-86; 4 RT J14:4-11; 10A RT 26:13-27:4.) He thus left "the jury . . . to wrestle with that tough issue" on its own. (8 RT 751; 10A RT 22-23.)

Skorheim also admitted that his projections assumed that numerous dental schools, their graduates, and veteran dentists would adopt the Sargon implant (14 AA 3598-3649; 15 AA 3794-3802), that Sargon would introduce other innovative products enabling sales increases of between 5,000% and 157,000% (Tr. Ct. Order 29 [21 AA 5356]; 11 RT 1870:15-26), and that existing market leaders would not compete with Sargon to maintain their market shares (Tr. Ct. Order 28-29 [21 AA 5355-56]).

C. The Trial Court's Evidentiary Ruling

After the eight-day section 402 hearing, the trial court excluded Skorheim's proffered expert opinion testimony, setting forth its reasons in a detailed 33-page order. (21 AA 5328-60.) The trial court found the evidence inadmissible on multiple grounds.

First, the trial court found that Skorheim's projections were not based upon Sargon's historical performance, but instead improperly used numbers "wildly beyond, by degrees of magnitude, anything that Sargon had ever experienced in the past." (Tr. Ct. Order 9 [21 AA 5336].)

Sargon to similarly situated companies, but instead had improperly compared Sargon with giant multinational corporations with "employees in the thousands and budgets in the billions"—companies that were "worlds apart from Sargon" by every objective business measure. (*Id.* at p. 10 & fn. 4 [21 AA 5337 & fn. 4].) The trial court observed that "[t]he only thing these established companies have in common with [Sargon] is that they all sell or make dental implants." (*Id.* at p. 10 [21 AA 5337].)

Third, the trial court found that Skorheim had failed to give guidance to the jury because he offered "no rational standards for the jury to follow in choosing" among the relative degrees of "innovativeness" that were the linchpin of the revenue and profit

projections. (*Id.* at p. 18 [21 AA 5345].) This feature of Skorheim's opinion, the trial court found, "relegate[d] the question of determining potentially more than a billion dollars in damages to pure speculation." (*Id.* at p. 21 [21 AA 5348].)

Fourth, the trial court found that Skorheim lacked any expertise for determining the importance of innovativeness to dental implants or for assessing the relative innovativeness of the Sargon implant. (*Id.* at pp. 17, 23 [21 AA 5344, 5350].)

Fifth, the trial court found that Skorheim's testimony rested on arbitrary and unfounded factual assumptions, including that Sargon would be able to make a "seamless transition" from a three-person operation to a multibillion-dollar international corporation (id. at p. 28 [21 AA 5355]), and that the existing multibillion-dollar market leaders would "just go quietly" rather than compete in response (id. at p. 29 [21 AA 5356]).

D. Sargon's Stipulation To Judgment

After Skorheim's testimony was ruled inadmissible, Sargon stipulated to a judgment of \$433,000, the damages awarded at the first trial, so that it could immediately appeal the trial court's

evidentiary ruling. (21 AA 5366-70.) In so doing, Sargon chose to forego proceeding to trial based on evidence of lost profits other than Skorheim's testimony, including evidence that distributors in Japan, Korea, and Saudi Arabia had canceled contracts for millions of dollars in annual sales (5 AA 1259-64) and that individual dentists had reduced or delayed their use of the Sargon implant (32 AA 8104-13).

E. The Court of Appeal's Decision

On appeal, a divided panel of the Second District, Division One (Mallano, J., joined by Chaney, J.) held that the trial court had abused its discretion in excluding Skorheim's testimony and "return[ed] the matter to the trial court for a new trial on the issue of lost profits." (Slip Opn. 2; see also *id*. at p. 31.) The majority did not discuss the reliability of Skorheim's "market driver" hypothesis or the unsupported factual assumptions underlying it, holding instead that "[t]echnical arguments about the meaning and effect of expert testimony on the issue of damages are best directed to the jury." (Slip Opn. 19, citation omitted; see also *id*. at pp. 30-31 ["We have carefully reviewed the trial court's criticisms of Skorheim's proffered

testimony and conclude they were better left for the jury's assessment."].)

The majority discussed none of the deficiencies the trial court had identified in Skorheim's expert opinion testimony other than Skorheim's comparison of Sargon to the dental implant market leaders. Without explanation, the majority found this comparison more like the comparison found admissible in Palm Medical Group, Inc. v. State Compensation Insurance Fund (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 206, in which an expert compared an occupational medical clinic to similarly sized medical providers in the same city, than the comparison found inadmissible in Parlour Enterprises, Inc. v. Kirin Group, Inc. (2007) 152 Cal. App. 4th 281, in which an expert compared a small ice cream parlor to the national Friendly's chain. (Slip Opn. The majority also characterized the trial court's ruling as 30.) "tantamount to a flat prohibition on lost profits" in cases where a business claimed an innovative product. (*lbid.*)

Justice Johnson dissented. Noting that admissibility of expert opinion evidence is committed to the discretion of the trial court, and that nothing in the trial court's "reasonable, straightforward and clearly articulated evidentiary ruling" was arbitrary, capricious, or beyond the bounds of reason, he concluded that the trial court's exclusion of Skorheim's testimony should have been upheld. (Dis. Opn. 7; see also *id.* at pp. 1-6.) He criticized the majority for "ignoring the function of discretion in trial court evidentiary rulings" and "usurp[ing] the function of the trial court." (*Id.* at p. 7.) The majority's approach, he observed, "dangerously erodes the function of the trial court in making evidentiary rulings on lost profit damages." (*Id.* at p. 8.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Because "[t]he qualification of expert witnesses, including foundational requirements, rests in the sound discretion of the trial court," trial court rulings concerning the admission of expert testimony should not be disturbed on appeal "[a]bsent a manifest abuse" of that discretion. (*People v. Ramos* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1133, 1175.) Under the abuse of discretion standard, a trial court ruling will not be disturbed unless the court "exercised its discretion in an arbitrary, capricious, or patently absurd manner that resulted in a

manifest miscarriage of justice." (*People v. Lewis* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 1255, 1268, citations omitted.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE EVIDENCE CODE REQUIRES THAT EXPERT OPINION TESTIMONY CONCERNING LOST PROFITS HAVE A REASONABLY RELIABLE BASIS

The Evidence Code permits testimony by an expert who has "special knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education sufficient to qualify him [or her] as an expert on the subject to which [the individual's] testimony relates" (Evid. Code, § 720, subd. (a)), but requires that all "matter" upon which an expert relies be "of a type that reasonably may be relied upon by an expert in forming an opinion upon the subject to which his [or her] testimony relates" (id., § 801, subd. (b), italics and bolding added). The Evidence Code thus requires trial courts to serve as gatekeepers of the reasonable reliability of expert opinion testimony. (See, e.g., People v. Prince (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1179, 1225, fn. 8; People v. Dean (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 186, 199.)

This gatekeeping role is especially important where expert opinion testimony concerns prospective lost profits. Such testimony

necessarily relies upon the prediction of uncertain future events that creates the risk of undue speculation, and upon the use of financial formulas that create an illusion of precision likely to mislead or confuse a jury. The Court of Appeal decision ignored these important principles in depriving the trial court of any discretion over admissibility and relegating the reliability of Skorheim's testimony to the jury.

A. The Evidence Code Provides For The Exclusion Of Speculative Expert Opinion Testimony

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