3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiff/appellant Sargon Enterprises, Inc. ("Sargon") asks for a favorable decision not merely for itself, but to validate the jury system that has been derailed twice since this case was filed more than 12 years ago.

Twice, trial courts precluded juries from considering <u>any</u> of Sargon's evidence of lost profits, instead imposing unprecedented and unrealistic standards for foreseeability, mathematical certainty, and expert qualifications. Each time, the Court of Appeal correctly reversed and remanded for a new trial on damages – the liability of defendant/respondent University of Southern California ("USC") for sabotaging Sargon's revolutionary new dental implant long since having been established.

Now USC asks this Court to immunize it from judgment day (literally). It raises a host of objections to Sargon's most recent attempt to establish its lost profits, through the testimony of forensic accountant and business valuation expert James Skorheim. These objections have no merit, as Sargon demonstrates below. More importantly, as the Court of Appeal correctly held, they go at most to the weight, not admissibility, of Skorheim's testimony. (Court of Appeal Opinion ("Opinion") at 19, 30-31.)

Whether Skorheim used an appropriate profit margin or correctly projected Sargon's future sales is a matter for "[v]igorous cross-

1

examination, presentation of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burden of proof," in the words of the seminal decision in *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.* (1993) 502 U.S. 579, 596. It is not ground for that testimony's wholesale exclusion, especially as Skorheim provided a wide range of alternative damage scenarios, carefully broken down into their component parts so that the jury could evaluate the validity of each individual assumption and projection.

The jury never got that chance. The trial court abused its discretion, overstepping its bounds by applying the wrong legal standards and then by deciding for itself whether, for example, a particular competitor was sufficiently comparable to be a basis for calculating Sargon's lost profits.

Perhaps aware that the trial court impermissibly crossed the line from gatekeeper to gate-closer, USC in its Opening Brief ("OB") tries to move that line. USC inveighs in favor of such judicial activism by invoking the specter of runaway juries, overawed and misled by experts they cannot understand, returning outrageous verdicts that will either bankrupt industry and academia or else blackmail them into extortionate settlements, and bury the courts in an avalanche of post-judgment litigation and appeals.

In doing so, USC fixates on the highest number generated by the most optimistic of Skorheim's four alternative projections. It disregards the Opinion's conclusion that, at a bare minimum, the most conservative

calculation, beginning at \$573,739 in 1998 and (like the others) calculating losses for each year thereafter, should have been presented to the jury because an award based on that projection "would have been supported by substantial evidence, not speculation." (Opinion 30.)

Perhaps more fundamentally, USC's parade of horribles is not supported by any evidence that juries are unfit to critically and carefully evaluate experts and their testimony. Nor does USC acknowledge the numerous protections ensuring that verdicts are supported by sufficient evidence (including orders for new trial or remittitur), let alone prelitigation mechanisms available to keep high damage cases from ever reaching a jury (including contractual provisions prohibiting or limiting consequential damages, or requiring arbitration).

Sargon is entitled to have a jury determine its compensation for the injury caused by USC's already-proven sabotage of a revolutionary product that had generated several million dollars in sales even before that sabotage.

No ground – legal or equitable – exists to deny that right.

3

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Sargon Implant.

In the late 1980s, Dr. Sargon Lazarof invented the Sargon Dental Implant ("Implant"). (9RT 1212:3-15; 10AA 2447:16-2453:22.) The Implant was a major advance over existing technologies.

In the 1960s and 1970s, Nobel Biocare's Dr. Branemark introduced "osseointegration," an innovative process by which, over several months, the jawbone and implant adhere, locking the implant in place. Nobel became the industry leader, controlling 40% of the market, and still retains a market-leading 23% share. (5RT K60:10-K62:18.)

Straumann later pioneered a process eliminating one of the two Branemark surgeries. This innovation made Straumann the market coleader, with a 22% share, but its process still required two patient visits, separated by several months, so the implant could osseointegrate before being "loaded" with an abutment and crown. (5RT K62:19-K65:17; 9RT 1220:26:1221:16.)

Sargon's Implant is expandable. Instead of waiting for the bone to grow to it, the implant expands to the bone, providing stability before osseointegration. The dentist can "load" it the same day, giving the patient an immediately functioning tooth. (5AA 1242:5-1243:4; 10AA 2454:1-2455:13; 9RT 1213:16-1217:20, 1226:2-1228:26.) A true "immediate-

4

load" implant was considered the industry's "Holy Grail," and predicted to become the fastest growing industry segment. (7RT 317:4-319:4.)

B. The Clinical Trial Agreement.

In 1994, USC's Dr. Marwan Abou-Rass began using the Implant. (10AA 2463:18-2467:15, 2515:11-2517:21.) Impressed, he spoke to USC's Dean, Howard Landesman, who became interested. (10AA 2467:5-2469:6, 2519:23-2521:10, 2530:14-28.)

Lazarof wanted USC to use and teach the Implant. Landesman, however, said that USC would first have to conduct a clinical study. (9RT 1245:25-1246:4; 10AA 2468:7-2473:15, 2531:20-2535:5.)

The study was important to Sargon. Dentists are risk-averse and disinclined to adopt new technologies without assurances they are safe and effective. University studies provide such assurances. (5RT K110:3-K111:9; 31AA 7860:5-19, 7945:9-7947:7; 32AA 8116:23-8117:14; 36AA 9369:4-25.)

Sargon had planned a Los Angeles marketing symposium. Landesman induced Lazarof to cancel it, stating: "Give me one year" and "I will give you the world." Sargon then could present the same symposium, but with USC and the study results. (9RT 1246:5-1248:4; 10AA 2471:5-2472:7, 2536:7-2539:1.) That one-year period became a

5

critical component of the Clinical Trial Agreement ("CTA"), signed November 6, 1996. (7AA 1525-1586.)

The CTA required Sargon to pay \$200,000 and USC to provide semi-annual reports. (7AA 1527-1528.) Publication of those reports was prohibited until "publication of the interim report at a 1 year level of follow-up." (7AA 1568, emphasis in original.)

USC appointed Dr. Winston Chee as Principal Investigator although Abou-Rass knew the Implant and was not as wedded to Nobel's competing implant. (10AA 2547:28-2548:28, 2549:20-2550:14, 2553:7-2555:10.)

C. <u>USC Experiences Excellent Results, And Predicts The Implant's Widespread Adoption.</u>

The one-year report – the first Sargon could use for marketing – was due in **February 1998**. (11AA 2866.) During that one year, USC's Dr. Hessam Nowzari told the FDA, USC experienced "a hundred percent" success rate. He called the Implant "the state-of-the-art and the best modality which can be offered to patients today." (11AA 2682:17-2683:20.) In February 1998, he wrote to "confirm the superiority of the Sargon Dental Implant to our present system (Branemark System)," and its introduction "at the USC School of Dentistry as the system of choice for patient care." (7AA 1786.)

6

Laudatory letters from Chee and Landesman followed. (7AA 1799, 1801.) Chee wrote that USC would use the Implant for "routine patient care" and predicted that, "with knowledge of our study and appreciation of the benefits of immediate loading of implants that all parties involved with Implant Dentistry will cho[o]se to use this Implant for patient care." (7AA 1799.)

D. The Monte Carlo Symposium.

In April 1998, USC sponsored a Symposium in Monte Carlo on Sargon's Implant. USC representatives made "quite positive" comments to approximately 400 attendees and it was announced that USC would soon publish the study results. (9AA 2132:5-24, 2227:9-2229:10; 10AA 2560:11-2561:13; 9RT 1254:27-1255:22; 11RT 2049:27-2053:12.) This generated interest from potential distributors. (5AA 1250:19-1251:2; 8AA 2046:1-2048:10, 2095:8-18.)

E. <u>USC's Breaches</u>.

USC then breached the CTA. Chee, who was receiving monetary honoraria from Sargon's biggest competitor (Opinion 9), produced no report until February 1999, *two years* after the start of the study. (10AA 2563:7-2566:9.) That report (7AA 1588-1595) was useless, neither mentioning USC nor, as required, "summarizing in customary clinical

7

format and detail the results of the work conducted under the Study." (7AA 1527.) USC's Abou-Rass was "appalled." (9AA 2209:18-2220:24, 2262:22-2266:10.)

After Sargon filed suit, Chee issued the *second* report, also not in the required format. (9AA 2217:22-2220:24.) That report purported to identify problems in some study patients, though no such problems were noted in the first, pre-lawsuit report and those patients <u>had not been examined</u> since the first report had issued. (5AA 1253:13-1254:6, 7AA 1597-1605.) Chee had invented these problems. When Chee produced the affected patients' records, they had been altered, as confirmed by a forensic chemist. (5AA 1255:8-1258:13, 1280-1283; 8AA 1931-1956; 10AA 2575:21-2662:10.)

F. The Damage To Sargon.

The lack of timely, usable reports was devastating. The Symposium and study announcement had generated great enthusiasm but, when no study results followed, Sargon lost credibility. (11RT 1811:12-28, 1833:17-27; 5AA 1251:9-13, 1276:21-1277:4, 10AA 2488:15-25, 2561:1-2562:15, 2571:14-2572:1; 43AA 11079:18-11081:6.)

U.S. dentists purchased fewer Implants. One delayed for five years before beginning its use, another completely stopped, while a third discontinued almost all use. (32AA 8104-8113; 32AA 8089:7-8091:20.)

Five dentists alone would have purchased a total of at least 825-925 more Implants had they received the study results, and several attributed resistance to the Implant from referring dentists to the lack of USC data. (*Ibid.*)

Sargon also lost sales overseas. Sargon's Japanese distributor had purchased over \$1 million in Sargon products, but reported that the lack of USC data was causing "our customers to lose their interest" and that customers would not buy the Implant "if we don't have the USC report to support." (7AA 1728, 1751.) It refused to sign a longer-term contract requiring purchases of \$5 million annually. (5AA 1259:11-1260:18.)

Sargon's former Saudi distributor had purchased over \$2.66 million from Sargon. Without the reports, it refused to agree to a new contract requiring annual purchases of \$2.5 million. (5AA 1261:4-1264:5; 7AA 1643.) Sargon had made more than \$450,000 in sales in Korea (5AA 1262:27-1263:13) but could not finalize agreement with a new distributor that had committed to purchase \$1 million of Sargon products annually because the Korean FDA would not issue an import license without "clinical data" demonstrating safety and efficacy. (5AA 1263:10-24; 7AA 1794, 1796-1797.) Sargon also lost potential distributors in Mexico, Turkey, England, Kuwait, and Lebanon. (3AA 641:17-643:13, 645:8-15; 5AA 1262:27-1264:18.)

9

III.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. The First Trial.

Trial was in 2003. Though Sargon prevailed, its lost profits evidence was excluded as "not foreseeable." (1AA 177-192.) The Court of Appeal reversed and remanded for a new trial on damages. (Opinion 3.)

B. The 402 Hearing.

At the *Evidence Code* §402 hearing held on remand, Sargon presented over 5,000 pages of documentary evidence and testimony from Lazarof, industry experts Robert Pendry and Steven Hanson, and its damages expert, James Skorheim. Skorheim is a CPA, Certified Valuation Analyst, Certified Fraud Examiner, and Certified Forensic Accountant specializing in forensic accounting, business analysis, and damages analysis. He has testified on business valuation and/or lost profits in the medical and dental fields, among others, including in a case arising from the sale of a dental implant company. (4RT J12:5-J17:24; 13AA 3238-3247, 3278-3280; 43AA 11059:5-20.) No court has excluded his testimony based on criticism of his methodology or the appropriateness of his analyses. (4RT J19:14-J20:2.)

10

1. Skorheim's Market Share Methodology.

Skorheim predicted Sargon's anticipated growth and profits by measuring them against other dental implant companies he determined were comparable to Sargon. Based on his experience as a business valuation analyst, and his research on the implant market, Skorheim identified three factors that predict success: (a) an innovative product (b) supported by clinical data from a respected institution that validates the efficacy and safety of the implant, along with (to a lesser degree) (c) a focus on general practitioners. (4RT J28:2-J31:11; 2ART 41:22-42:3, 65:2-66:23.)¹

Skorheim determined that the implant market is divided into two groups – companies that possess these three "drivers" and those that do not. He found that Sargon shares with the former a focus on innovation and clinically documenting the efficacy of its product and prepared a chart illustrating Sargon's comparability in these and other respects (including pricing, cost structures, distribution practices, and success rates). (1ART 4:28-6:9; 5RT K50:2-13, K56:12-K57:8; 40AA 10239-10240.)

Skorheim concluded that six implant companies were comparable to Sargon: Nobel Biocare, Straumann, 3i, Zimmer, Dentsply, and Astra-Tech.

¹ "2ART" refers to the July 26, 2007 augmented transcript; "1ART" to the July 18, 2007 augmentation.

(5RT K50:2-K54:14; 40AA 10239-10240.) Sargon was not comparable to the other companies which compete, not by supporting innovative products with clinical studies, but by offering lower prices on "copy-cat" products. (5RT K50:2-13, K54:15-K56:18; 7 RT 324:1-27.)

2. Skorheim's Projections.

After identifying comparable companies, Skorheim concluded that Sargon would have attained similar success over time had it received timely USC study results establishing the Implant's safety and efficacy. (6RT 39:1-27; 7RT 301:21-302:9, 309:13-310:25; 8RT 746:18-752:8.)

He prepared four alternative profit projections. (13AA 3232-3236; 37AA 9484-9488.) Each began with Sargon's actual revenues in 1998, when Sargon had attained approximately .5% of the market. (8RT 608:2-14.) With the success of Monte Carlo, Skorheim concluded that, had Sargon obtained timely reports from USC, Sargon would have doubled its 1998 revenues, attaining a 1% share. (8RT 608:15-609:22.)

Skorheim's four scenarios then diverged, based on Skorheim's conclusion that the greater a product's innovation, the greater the likelihood of increased sales. (8RT 605:21-608:1.) Though USC's Table 1 (OB 11) merely lumps together the totals under each scenario, Skorheim was far more detailed and meticulous, as shown by the charts he prepared (appended hereto as Appendix A).

As Skorheim had reliable projections of market growth through 2009, he first calculated, under each alternative, profits lost each individual year from 1998-2009. (5RT K32:24-K33:9, K37:12-K41:28, 35AA 9028-9029.) He then calculated post-2009 damages, but discounted those damages because growth would slow as Sargon and the market matured, and Sargon's patents expired. (8RT 618:18-622:19; 13AA 3232-3236.)²

The jury would have used the first calculation if it found Sargon's level of innovation equal only to the least innovative benchmark company (Astra-Tech) and that Sargon would have attained a 3.75% market share over 12 years. Here, lost profits for 1998 were \$573,739. They grew thereafter as follows:

2000: \$2,187,136

2001: \$2,928,125

2002: \$4,954,538

2003: \$6,302,887

2004: \$8,401,310

Each scenario deducted anticipated costs. As USC notes, Skorheim adjusted his predicted profit margin, though USC fails to explain that he did so because he concluded that Sargon's initially high expenses and low profit margin would fall in line with the comparators as Sargon matured and sales grew. (8RT 612:14-617:27; 15AA 3734:21-25; 17AA 4224:14-4227:16, 4228:17-4230:15.)

2005: \$10,981,177

2006: \$14,208,419

2007: \$17,700,450

2008: \$21,841,350

2009: \$26,503,125

This totaled \$120,011,000 (after adjustments for interest and present value), plus a post-2009 loss of market share of \$100,473,347. (8RT 628:15-632:27, 635:27-642:25; 13AA 3233.) Alternatives two through four also each began with the 1998 loss of \$537,739. Each, however, projected higher yearly damages thereafter, which the jury could award if it concluded Sargon's innovation level was higher and would have led eventually to a market share commensurate with a different benchmark company – either 5% (Dentsply), 10% (3i) or 20% (Nobel/Straumann).

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